279

MINUTES
CRISP COUNTY ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
MEETING
October 21, 2025

The Crisp County Zoning Board of Appeals met at a regular meeting on the 21st day of October, 2025, at
9:00 a.m. in the Crisp County Government Center. The following members were present: Dale Mitchell,
J.C. Clark, Ken Partain, and Wayne “Lucky” Taylor. Also present were Crisp County Administrator
Mickey Dunnavant, Crisp County Planning Director Jason Gourley, and Building Inspector Jimmy
Mumphery. Visitors present: Robert Miller, Kim Miller, John Gordon, Gary Johnson, and Joan Johnson.

Chairman Dale Mitchell called the meeting to order.
MINUTES

Chairman Dale Mitchell asked for a motion on the September 16, 2025, meeting. J.C. Clark made a
motion to approve the September 16, 2025, minutes, and a second was made by Ken Partain

YOTE: Carried unanimously.

Chairman Mitchell opened the Public Hearing and read aloud the criteria by which the board handles
requests and the criteria for handling special exception variances.

PUBLIC HEARING # 1

Chairman Mitchell read the request aloud from John Gordon and Kim Miller to construct a detached,
24x44 garage, in his front yard: with a setback variance from 35ft to 171t from Scenic Route, and a
setback variance from 15 ft to 8 ft from his northern property line.

MEETING

Chairman Mitchell asked if we had anyone here to speak to Mr. Gordon’s request. Mr. Gordon
approached the podium and stated that he was here to speak. Mr. Gordon stated they have a house, and
what they want to do is to build a carport in the front yard of the house. He stated the carport is 44 feet
long, which is going to have three doors in it, every 12 feet on each door. Mr. Gordon presented a
sketch, from the house back to where the carport would start would be 18 feet. Chairman Mitchell
explained that they had copies and asked if this was the area by the existing carport. Mr. Gordon stated
that it was correct and continued to tell that it's 18 feet back where the carport will start, The carport
would be 44 feet long. And there's an 8-foot setback from the other side of the property. There's already
a piece of property on the other side of the carport, which is from the property line, it's three feet six
inches. Chairman Mitchell asked if the existing carport would remain. Mr. Gordon stated that it is on the
other property. Inspector Mumphery stated to Mr. Gordon that Chairman Mitchell is referring to the
open shed. Mrs. Miller interjected and stated that it is gone, and this will replace it. Chairman Mitchell
then asked if he would replace it with this new structure. Mr. Gordon stated, “Right”. Mr. Gordon
continued to state from the carport, the corner of the carport, going out towards the east side of the
property, it is 18 feet back from the property line itself, that’s the stake. He continued to state that on




230

Page2
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025

the stake to the roadbed is not 18 feet. So there's a total of 36 feet from the roadbed to where the
property starts, where the carport will be. Mr, Gordon asked the board members if there were any
questions. J.C. Clark stated that he thought Mr. Gordon explained it really well. Chairman Mitchell
asked how his neighbors feel about this, and he has talked to them about this. Mr. Gordon replied Yes,
sir, I have. He stated that Lou Bennett lives on one side and has no problem with this. And Janice Cook
is on the other side, and she has no problem whatsoever.

Chairman Mitchell asked if there were any comments from anyone. Administrator Dunnavant stated No,
sir. Nobody’s responded to the letters that we mailed, and we have received no phone calls. J.C. Clark
commented that it certainly will be an improvement.

Chairman Mitchell closed the public portion of the hearing.
DISCUSSION and VOTE:

Chairman Mitchell asked if we need to go through the flood protection. Inspector Mumphery stated that
he is out of the floodplain. Wayne Taylor stated that, as J.C. said, this is an improvement. We're going
from an open structure to a closed-in structure, I don't see where it'll cause any detriment to the public
good or diminished property values in that area, or be injurious to any of his neighbors; they haven’t
complained. So my discussion on this is that I'm in favor of it, and I'm ready for a vote whenever the
board is. Chairman Mitchell asked for a motion to approve. Lucky Taylor made the motion to approve,
and J.C. Clark seconded the motion. Chairman Mitchell asked if there was any further discussion. With
none, Chairman Mitchell asked that all those in favor of approval say aye. The motion carried
unanimously. Lucky Taylor asked who the other two people just for the record. Kim Miller and Robert
Miller spoke up. They stated they are the owners of the property. They were asked to sign the sign-in
sheet for the hearing.

Lucky Taylor stated We kind of need to get it on the record now. This is not that much of an exception
out at the lake because on the backside of it, you can't build because the lake's almost everything out
there comes from an exception. So this is kind of something that we do regularly. It's not an automatic
approval, but it's something that we do on a regular basis.

NEW BUSINESS

Chairman Mitchell asked if we had any new business. Administrator Dunnavant stated just a little bit.
He stated we have searched and we have found a new planning zone director, and he's with us today.
Jason Gourley. He's been out in the Sheriff's Office for 22 years. He's a certified crime scene tech out
there. So, I think he's going to do a really good job. We're going to try and get him up to speed pretty
quickly. Fortunately, the way this 1s falling, Jason is going to get to attend some training. The 101 and
102 that y'all went to, you get to go to that in November. I think that'll get him brought in pretty good.
But I did want to come in to meet y'all and see how these meetings run. I feel really confident that Jason
is going to move that place down there forward in the direction that y'all have been wanting to see it go.




281

Page 3
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025

Lucky Taylor stated You've always been a pleasure to work with. Mr. Mitchell asked what his last name
was again, and Jason responded with Gourley. Administrator Dunnavant continued to state that his
father used to be the fire marshal, the state fire marshal here, and his mother was a juvenile officer. J. C.
Clark then asked who the two people in the back were. Administrator Dunnavant stated that it was Mr,
Johnson and his wife. Chairman Mitchell stated that with no other new business, they are covered under
old business.

OLD BUSINESS

Chairman Mitchell addressed Mr. Johnson, stating that when they had the hearing a couple of months
ago, I think there was some confusion about what we were doing there in terms of what's there and what
you wanted to put there. We noticed after the meeting and the hearing that there were already existing
buildings where we didn't think there were any. Mr. Johnson replied, “Right. Yes, sir”. Chairman
Mitchell continued to state Where are we going with this? Mr. Johnson stated, Well, that's why I'm here.
I got up and left at 2:30 this morning to get here. Where do I need to start? I know where I need to
finish, but where do I need to start with y'all, sir? Lucky Taylor asked, Okay, answer one question for
me. That's a silly question. Silly, silly question. How big is your lawnmower? Mr. Jonson replied, How
big is my lawnmower? I just bought one. It's 42 inches. But not for here. That's for Florida. Lucky
Taylor said, For here? Mr. Johnson replied, Oh, for here? With that little bit, I'll push mow it.

I'm trying to, I told Mr. Jimmy, I'm trying to cash flow everything. As you know, I'm in law
enforcement, and we don't make a lot of money. And I cash flow it. It was pointed out that there was a
retired Major and a retired probation officer, and a current deputy on the board. Mr. Johnson stated, Mr.
Taylor, I met you one day at the Dollar General right there in Pitts. And I told my wife, I said, man, that
kind of fella looks like that deputy we talked to you, so y'all know I try to cash flow everything. We
bought the property for cash, and we were actually up here doing some clearing in that, and I was lying
in a hammock and on Facebook, and I came across the ship. I called a guy, got a price from him, and I
said Cash price. He said the cash price, you know, I'll go this much. I said How quickly do [ have to get
that out of there? He said you can leave it here until you're ready, and I was like, perfect. Next thing, you
know, I've paid cash for it a couple of months later, he's calling me saying, Hey, you've got to get this.

out of here. I'm like, you told me I could leave it there until I was ready. He goes, well, you've got to get
It's going. If you don't, it's going to be $25 a day that you're there, going to charge. I had put in for the
permit, not knowing I had to rezone. I put in for a permit for the shed before it was ever moved there.

And I'm waiting, and I'm waiting, I'm waiting, never heard anything. I got a hold of Mr. Jimmy, and he
goes No, you don't put in for the permit for that until you get it rezoned I did not know that. I've never
done anything like this. I've never pulled permits on them, so okay. So what do we have to do? We've
got to get it rezoned. So I did that, but before y'all approve that, that's when he called me and said
You've got to get that shit out of here. It's $25 a day. It's going to be $175 a week. I'm like, crap. I tried
to find somewhere to put it. I couldn't find anywhere else. I told the boy to bring it in. I said, Just put it. I
want to go a little bit farther back than what it was. I said, Get it in there. It's not even augmented down.



282

Page 4
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025

I don't know if you've seen that. We don't have it secured down. Inspector Mumphery stated that he did
see the septic tank. Mr. Johnson replied, Well, let me get to that, OK? I had pulled the permits for the
septic tank. And where the red oak said the subject tank needed to-be, that's close to where that shed
was. | want to move that shed, because where that shed is, is where I want to build my house. And the
guy had come in, I'd have to look at my phone, and go, the septic tank guy. He came in, said, This is
where the subject tank's going to be, this is where I'll put it. Okay. And he came in and put it there. I did
not know it was in there yet until he called me and said, Hey, septic tank is in, you need to pay for it.
Like, okay. Now, the power pole stuff, I talked to Chad, and I asked him about permitting this and that.
What do we have to do? He goes, I'll do all your power work. I'll get your tent pole set, run power, and
everything. Then I'll draw it up and pull permits. I've never done permit anything.

Chairman Mitchell commented, stating, Well, sounds like we've kind of got the cart before the horse.
And asked Inspector Mumphery what our future plan is for us in terms of getting this straight? Inspector
Mumphery stated, First of all, nothing against Mr. Johnson, but I know that most people in Cordele don't
go out and do work unless they have an understanding of payment. So somebody had to give you an
okay to put in the septic tank, the power poles, drop out of this. I do know Chad Jones personally and as
a contractor. And if you asked for a temporary poll to build a house, he would have set a temporary poll.
If he were doing it to construct something, he would have gotten a permit. We don't require permits for
temporary poles for new construction.

When I visited the site after | was invited that something was there, it was kind of the dilemma that it
wasn't. When [ visited the site, I found out that the power had a set meter, which was a power line that
was out of compliance because it was lying on top of the ground from the temporary pole to this
building. The septic tank was on the property. I did not attempt to-enter the building because it was
private property. It appears to be set up for a set, I mean, if it were mine and that close to the septic tank,
I'm gonna hook it up to a septic tank. If it was there for a storage shed for a lawnmower, then it's kind of,
you can't get a ride lawn mower in it. And you can't get a ride on a lawn mower in that particular. And
me personally, a lot of grass to cut if I, you know, and I'm just, I'm being honest, because we were kind
of misled or misconstrued as to where we're going.

Lucky Taylor stated we had a lot of that all the way, you know, we asked you was the building was

there. Right. Numerous times. Numerous times, and you said no. And I'm a slow boy, but when I can
Drive by, and it is staring at me. I kind of take offense to that. Mr. Johnson stated, and I apologize for
that. J. C. Clark stated you kept saying, It's a building, it's a building. Even the people who came up said
that. Chairman Mitchell stated the feeling of most of us, I think, is that when we're misled or
misinformed by the applicant, we tend to want to redo what we, and Lucky Taylor, said we become
defensive. Chairman Mitchell stated, and we don't feel like we gave that to you in good faith. Mr.
Johnson stated, I understand that I do apologize for that. Chairman Mitchell stated, Mickey and I talked
about it when we discovered it, and our thoughts were that we need to unwind what we did in that
hearing until this is straightened out. Mr. Johnson stated Yes, sir.



283

Page 5
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025

Lucky Taylor stated, We have another problem, people tend to put in the least cost. I'm not a bad mouth
on what you said a minute ago, the least costly thing. And it looks to me like a camping cabin. That's
what it looks like. But that goes against the code that we're here to enforce. So we have to draw a line in
the sand. And you tell us how we make this, we want to make it right with you. We want to welcome
you to Crisp County. But at the same time, what is the recourse for what we can do? M. Johnson
replied, Yes, [ understand that. It's not it's not a camp. What did you call it, a camping cabin? It's not that
I'll be back and forth. Lucky Taylor stated How many storage sheds have curtains. Mr. Johnson replied
well, but I have stuff in there. Cook stuff that when we're working, we'll go out and cook in that. I don't
want people seeing them in there. That's all that's in there, other than some insulation. I'll take you out
there and show you. Okay. I'll take you out there. Well, we're going to have to break in because I left the
keys at the house this morning.

Lucky Taylor stated that it has a 36-inch front door, and you told us you were going to store your lawn
equipment in it. And only a push mower is going through that door. That's why I asked that question.
Mr. Johnson stated And now, you said a lot of property or a lot to move with push mowers, Mr. Jimmy.
The house I lived in before was three and a half acres when [ pushed it. Inspector Mumphery stated,
Let's do this. So, we don't allow the commissioners to allow RVs for camping purposes. Administrator
Dunnavant added that we don't allow hunting camps up period, storage sheds. We can't live in a store
shed. Inspector Mumphery added that a store shed cannot be used as a dwelling. So it doesn't comply
with any of the regulations that we have. Is that well on the property? Mr. Jonson replied, No, sir.
Inspector Mumphery stated So you don't have a purpose for water? I mean power. Not right now, replied
Mr. Johnson. The only thing we can do is with nothing that requires power is a special use for a building
that's not even farm-related. And you can either say he can put a utility bill in there or he can't. And now
to eliminate that because there's no principal structure. And that's in our land development code. Lucky
Taylor stated, Please forgive me. As 1 said, I want to welcome you. I'll do anything I can to help you.
But if we approve this, I'm asking that it be written into it that for the next two years, we get your
approval to go check your property and make sure that you're not cheating us. No, and that's fine, replied
Mr. Johnson. Lucky Taylor asked Does that sound reasonable, and he replied, Yes, sir. I'll give whoever
the keys when I'm not there. Mr. Johnson stated, Now the power, how many y'all are hunters? Y'all run
game cameras and feeders? Everything runs off a battery now, and solar. And everything we run is off
rechargeable. Inspector Mumphery stated, but your hunting is Your hunting is in Wilcox. That's what
the administrator just said. We do not allow any camping sites. Yeah, no, it's not camp. That's what I'm
saying, though. Administrator Dunnavant stated that we don't allow power to hunt sites. Yeah. Well, I
did not, Mr. Johnson replied. And Wilcox does not have the zoning restrictions that we have, Lucky
Taylor stated. Mr. Johnson stated I have learned. Totally different. [ have learned that. So, because I met
you that day, that fellow at the end of the road. The Dollar General, right there in Pitts. If you go straight
down that road and run into that pond, that fellow right there. He told me, he goes Man, we don't pull
permits for nothing. See what I'm building? And Lucky Taylor stated, his house is built on an old mill.

Mr. Johnson stated, Yeah, he just built a brand new barn and everything. Administrator Dunnavant
stated they don't have a zoning or anything in Wilcox County. You cut a tree down in your front yard
and build a house next to it. Lucky Taylor stated that your mother-in-law can be in the backyard, and



284

Page 6 )
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025 )

three children can be living in three storage buildings in the front yard. Exactly. And do. And we ain't
talking Wilcox. We're talking about four hundred yards.

Mr. Johnson stated, but no, it was for storing all of our hunting gear, our stands, and everything. You
know, hunting season just kicked open, I think. But, unfortunately, I ain't been able to get up here,
because of work. Lucky Taylor stated, I'm full of crap, I told you that. For the trouble that you're going
to, you could have put a small single wide trailer on there, and you'd be done with it. We're trying to fix
things now. So tell us what you want us to do.

MTr. Johnson stated, I'll take you out there and show you the inside now. I'm not planning on making that
a cabin. I promise I am insulating it, but | am going to insulate it because during summer, when I'm up
here, you know, it gets hot. I have battery-operated fans and stuff. If y'all will let me, y'all tell me how I
can make it right. I'll make it right. I will. I don't know. I've never done anything like it. Okay.
Administrator Dunnavant asked, Where do you stay when you come up here for an extended period?
Mr. Johnson replied, The Econo Lodge, the hotel room.

Chairman Mitchell stated, My thinking is, we do not allow power in there until there is a building

permit. Lucky Taylor added, and I'm going to draw the line on the installation, if there ain't nothing in

there, but you're camping gear, you ain't gonna spend that much time in there to need insulation. I know

that you won't ask, and we'll bend over backwards to work with you. We'll know you by the end, and ﬂ
you'll know us, so as I discussed this do we need a motion now to amend? Fe

Mr. Johnson added, Before we do that, I have a question because it's not anchored in. I want to move it.
Maybe a little bit before, I can go ahead, and if it's approved, should I go ahead, and I know I got to do
the permits, should I anchor it? Inspector Mumphery stated, if you're gonna move it, are you gonna take
the Wilcox County or are you gonna look at get the mobile home to go there? Mr. Johnson replied, Well,
I'm talking, move it from where it's sitting, because I don't want it right there. I want to move it back a
little bit farther. I just got to clean some more trees out. Lucky Taylor stated I see no problem with
approving that, as long as you're at least 15 feet from the side of the property, 25 actually. It will be even
farther than that. Okay. Chairman Mitchell stated our original approval was for a storage shed. Is that
correct? That's correct. That's what you can have. You can't have a house. You can't have a camp. You
can't have electricity.

Mr. Johnson stated I'm going to tell you, it's going to be more than two years before I can put a structure

there. I've had some stuff come up. Chairman Mitchell, if you want electricity, you are gonna have o«

make it for yourself. The property ain't going nowhere. Mr. Johnson stated, Yeah, it's not gomg tee
anywhere. So, yeah. Chairman Mitchell stated, We feel a little stung here, to tell you the truth.

Mr. Johnson replied, and I apologize, and I can see that. Chairman Mitchell stated We're going to be as

free and easy with you as we would have been. If you've got approval for a storage shed, that's what

you're going to have. Inspector Mumphery stated, so we're going to permit a storage building, no powet. ﬂ




Page 7
ZBOA Minutes
October 21, 2025

Ken Partain stated, and I'll tell you our first reaction, I'm a retired major from the sheriff’s office. Our
first thought was general law enforcement, but we had integrity issues. Because we felt like we would be
being deceived. So better to have you here face-to-face so we can talk and get this squared away. Mr.
Johnson replied, That's why [ was up at 2:30 this morning heading hear. South Florida Water
Management called on Thursday and said, Hey, we need deputies. And my chief said, It’s gonna be your
guys. And I said, Chief, I'm sorry. You know, and he understands because he's got property. He just
bought in Alabama, and he goes, Go do it. Do it. Take care. Lucky Taylor then said, Let's go back to the
proposal. The proposed amendment will be that this is approved for a storage building only. And that
should be caps and underline with no power on site at this time. With the owner's permission for us to
make on-site visits for the next two years, and set an end date. Mrs. Johnson asked Can it be moved? I'm
sorry. Yeah, we can add. Because we would like to move it more towards the back, we don't have time
to clear that. Lucky Taylor stated We're just approving it to be there. We don't have side or front issues
yet. Two years from this date, from the date of approval, we will meet. That was two months ago. A
month and a half ago. Inspector Mumphery stated that it would have been August 19th. Lucky Taylor
stated on August 19th, 2027. Okay.

Inspector Mumphery confirmed that it is for a storage building on the permission, for an on-site visit, no
power, and it's filed 8/19/27 unless he put a House, an approved resident. No power without a
conforming resident. Ken Partain confirmed this is gonna allow for the moving of it also, that should be
written in there. Inspector Mumphery stated, Yeah, he can relocate it as long as it meets code.

Chairman Mitchell stated I'm gonna call for a motion to approve the amendment, Lucky Taylor so
moved the motion, and J.C. Clark seconded. Chairman Mitchell asked for all in favor of the amendment
to the original approval, say aye. The motion was carried unanimously.

Lucky Taylor asked, How do you feel? Did we meet your needs? Mr. Johnson stated, Very much. Thank
you so much. Mrs. Johnson stated ['m just glad that y'all took the time to listen to what we have to say. |

can see where you're coming from, honestly.

You see one thing, and y'all got to go by law too, by the laws, in the county. I don't understand. My
mind is working like, okay. I just want to get it right. So when I come here, I come in a lot to enjoy it.

Administrator Dunnavant reminded the members that they had to adjourn.

There was no other business. Motion to adjourn was called, J.C. Clark made the motion to adjourn, and
Ken Partain seconded the motion. The meeting was adjourned by Chairman Mitchell.

Dale Mitchell
Chairman

nning & %



